

Fulfilling the Promise: How More Women on Corporate Boards Would Make America and American Companies More Competitive



Statement by the Policy and Impact Committee of The Committee for Economic Development

Includes bibliographic references

First printing in bound-book form: 2012

Printed in the United States of America

COMMITTEE FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

2000 L Street, N.W., Suite 700

Washington, D.C., 20036

202-296-5860

www.ced.org

# Contents

PURPOSE OF THIS STATEMENT5
SUMMARY7
WOMEN ON CORPORATE BOARDS WOULD MAKE AMERICA AND AMERICAN COMPANIES MORE COMPETITIVE11
American Companies are Being Challenged to Compete11
Women on Boards are Critical to the Competitiveness Agenda
Why is the Gender Composition of Corporate Boards Important?
The Current Pace of Change is Not Good Enough
The Supply Pipeline is a Challenge to Some, an Excuse to Others
Nominating Committees Do Not Demand Enough Women Candidates
A Note on Self-Correcting Markets and Effects of Gender Differences on Supply and Demand
Some Solutions
CED Recommendations: A Business Approach to Expand Supply and Increase Demand by Advocating for Talented Women
Developing talent and expanding the pipeline
A note on cultural impediments
Conclusion
APPENDICES21
Appendix 1 – Davies Report, Women on Boards (2011), Summary of Recommendations
Appendix 2 – Selected Organizations that Provide Referrals for Qualified Women Candidates for Board Positions
ENDNOTES23





### **Members of the Policy and Impact Committee**

Co-Chairmen

PATRICK W. GROSS

Chairman
The Lovell Group

WILLIAM W. LEWIS

Director Emeritus, McKinsey Global Institute

McKinsey & Company, Inc.

Members

ANTHONY A. BARRUETA

Senior Vice President, Government Relations

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc

**JOHN BRADEMAS** 

**President Emeritus**New York University

BETH A. BROOKE

Global Vice Chair - Public Policy Ernst & Young LLP

**GERHARD CASPER** 

President Emeritus and Professor Stanford University

MICHAEL CHESSER

Chairman & CEO

Great Plains Energy, Inc.

**ROBERT COLSON** 

Partner - Institutional Acceptance (Retired)

Grant Thornton

W. BOWMAN CUTTER

Senior Fellow and Director, Economic Policy Initiative

The Roosevelt Institute

KENNETH W. DAM

Max Pam Professor Emeritus of American & Foreign Law & Senior Lecturer

The University of Chicago

MICHELLE FINNERAN DENNEDY

Vice President & Chief Privacy Officer

McAfee, Inc.

**HOWARD FLUHR** 

Chairman

The Segal Company

BEN W. HEINEMAN, JR.

Senior Fellow, Schools of Law &

Government

Harvard University

**EDWARD A. KANGAS** 

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Retired)

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

JOSEPH E. KASPUTYS

Chairman, China Monitor, Inc., Founder, IHS Global Insight

IHS Global Insight

DAVID H. LANGSTAFF

President and Chief Executive Officer

TASC, Inc.

JOHN C. LOOMIS

Vice President, Human Resources

General Electric Company

**BRUCE K. MACLAURY** 

President Emeritus

The Brookings Institution

WILLIAM J. MCDONOUGH

Vice Chairman (Retired)

Bank of America Merrill Lynch

DEBORAH HICKS MIDANEK

Chairman and CEO

Solon Group, Inc.

ALFRED T. MOCKETT

Chief Executive Officer

Dex One

STEFFEN E. PALKO

President and Vice Chairman (Retired)

XTO Energy Inc.

**DEBRA PERRY** 

Non-Executive Director

Korn/Ferry International, Inc.

DONALD K. PETERSON

Former Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer

Avaya Inc.

**NED REGAN** 

Professor

The City University of New York

**DANIEL ROSE** 

Chairman

Rose Associates, Inc.

LANDON H. ROWLAND

Chairman

Ever Glades Financial

KENNETH P. RUSCIO

President

Washington & Lee University

ROBERT A. SCOTT

President

Adelphi University

PETER P. SMITH

Senior Vice President, Academic

Strategies and Development

Kaplan, Inc.

JON STELLMACHER

Senior Vice President (Retired)

Thrivent Financial for Lutherans

PAULA STERN

Chairwoman

The Stern Group, Inc.

FREDERICK W. TELLING

Vice President, Corporate Policy & Strategic Management (Retired)

Pfizer Inc

DAVIA B. TEMIN

President and Chief Executive Officer

Temin and Company Incorporated

G. RICHARD THOMAN

Chairman

Corporate Acquirers, Inc.

PATRICK TOOLE

General Manager, Maintenance & Technical Support Services, IBM

Global Technology Services

IBM Corporation

JOHN P. WHITE

Former Robert & Renee Belfer Lecturer, Kennedy School of Government

Harvard University

JACOB J. WORENKLEIN

Partner and Co-Head, Global Projects

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP



### **Women's Economic Empowerment Subcommittee**

Chair

BETH A. BROOKE

Global Vice Chair - Public Policy

Ernst & Young LLP

Members

KIM K. AZZARELLI

Vice President

New Ventures, Newsweek Daily Beast

President

Women in the World Foundation

**IOANNA BARSH** 

Director

McKinsey & Company, Inc.

ROBERT COLSON

Partner - Institutional Acceptance (Retired)

Grant Thornton

THEODORE L. DYSART

Vice Chairman

Heidrick & Struggles

KAREN ELINSKI

General Counsel and Acting Head, Government Relations

TIAA-CREF

NANCY GLASER

Senior Vice President, Global Communications

Avon Products, Inc.

ANNE IZZILLO

Financial Planning Specialist - Wealth Management

Morgan Stanley Smith Barney

**DIONY LEBOT** 

Chief Executive Officer - Western Europe

Societe Generale

DEBORAH HICKS MIDANEK

Chairman and CEO

Solon Group, Inc.

**SUSAN NESS** 

Senior Fellow, Center for Transatlantic Relations

Johns Hopkins School of Advanced International Studies

**DEBRA PERRY** 

Non-Executive Director

Korn/Ferry International, Inc.

DONALD K. PETERSON

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Avaya Inc.

PATRICIA F. RUSSO

Former Chairman and CEO

Alcatel-Lucent Technologies, Inc.

JUDITH SAMUELSON

Executive Director, Business and Society Program

The Aspen Institute

PAULA STERN

Chairwoman

The Stern Group, Inc.

DAVIA B. TEMIN

President and Chief Executive Officer

Temin and Company Incorporated

Project Director

**ELLIOT SCHWARTZ** 

Vice President and Director of Economic Studies

Committee for Economic Development



### **Purpose of this Statement**

Successive crises touching the performance of American corporations have focused increased attention on the board of directors as a unique institution with power to effect change. Those scrutinizing corporate boards see an obvious feature: They are predominately composed of men. In 2011, women occupied just 16 percent of Fortune 500 board seats. That percentage is far below the percentages of women in the labor force, enrolled in higher education, and graduating with advanced degrees. This leaves untapped an important source of expertise and insight. If we as a society want women in the workforce – and we do – we need to provide working women with the opportunity to succeed at the highest levels. Without a serious commitment to bringing more women onto boards, U.S. corporations will find themselves falling behind international competitors that are getting the most out of an expanding pool of talented women by opening to them more opportunities for success and advancement.

Recognizing this reality, CED initiated in 2011 a Subcommittee on Women's Economic Empowerment, chaired by Beth Brooke, Global Vice Chair - Public Policy, Ernst & Young. We are grateful to Beth for her leadership and to the other CED Trustee and non-Trustee members of this Subcommittee for the time, effort, and expertise they dedicated to developing this report. We also wish to thank Elliot Schwartz, CED Vice President and Director of Economic Research, and Joe Minarik, CED's Senior Vice President and Director of Research for their support of this endeavor

Patrick W. Gross, co-chair Policy and Impact Committee Chairman The Lovell Group

William W. Lewis, co-chair Policy and Impact Committee Director Emeritus McKinsey Global Institute McKinsey & Company, Inc.





### **Summary**

We urge businesses – business leaders – to make it a priority to develop the talents and advance the careers of female staff who have been identified as potential leaders. This means providing such women with the experiences and background needed to rise to the top, advocating their promotion to higher levels of responsibility, and showing visible results of these efforts. Our goal is to see more women elected to corporate boards. The strongest business case for this goal and recommendation is that successful businesses of the future will be those that attract, retain, and grow talent – which requires that more women have the opportunity to succeed at all levels of the company, including the board. If American companies fail to meet the career requirements of high-performing women, they will fall behind global competitors that do.

European and Pacific nations and emerging market countries are taking action to ensure that their companies have diverse corporate boards. Yet, too many American companies fall short when measured by the number of women on boards of directors. This must change. American companies must use all available human talent to be globally competitive.

Since World War II, American economic growth and competitiveness have been strengthened by businesses' ability to gain value from an increasingly diverse labor force. Women today contribute in virtually all levels of work life. Women have excelled in educational attainment and have been led to expect full equality in the workplace. That expectation, and the progress built upon it, is undermined when women cannot achieve equal status on the highest rungs of the corporate ladder.

The situation for the United States is urgent, as other countries move ahead with numerous efforts to provide women with greater access to board membership and other opportunities for advancement. Despite a professed desire by many companies for greater

diversity and female representation, there has been virtually no improvement in recent years. Corporate leaders must commit to show better results.

### Gender Composition of Corporate Boards Is Important for Global Competitiveness

Women now constitute a substantial portion of highly talented labor. They have caught up to and surpassed men in college attendance and attainment of bachelor's and master's degrees. Currently in the United States, more than one-third (36.8 percent) of new MBAs are earned by women. Companies that fail to fully utilize this labor talent will limit their own growth and opportunities for economic gain.

This report focuses on leadership at the top. We are well aware that the search for gender equity must proceed at all levels. As a business leadership group, CED's greatest impact is likely to be felt at the board level. We know that the board is where strategic decisions are made and that having more women on boards will have a pull effect, leveraging more women into other upper-echelon positions. Of course, board selection is complicated and must be made on merit. But the relative lack of women in leadership positions makes us, along with many others, wonder whether merit selection currently operates as it should.

# Existing Efforts Do Not Yield Enough Progress

Certainly, things are better than they used to be. In 1980, no woman was CEO of a Fortune 100 company; in 2001, 11 percent of Fortune 100 board positions were held by women. But very little has changed over the past decade. The percentage of women on all U.S. corporate boards has been stuck in the 12.1 to 12.3 percent range; in Fortune 500 companies it is only slightly better, in the 15 to 16 percent range. On current estimates, the percentage of women on boards will never even begin to approach their percentage in the population and labor force.



#### **Supply Challenges**

Board nominating committees often say that the small number of women on boards is due to the small number of perceived candidates in the pipeline, although our own review of the many organizations that maintain lists of qualified female board candidates casts substantial doubt on the validity of that perception. (See Appendix 2.) The organization WomenCorporateDirectors, for example, has over 1350 members serving on over 1500 boards worldwide. It may be that nominating committees set criteria for board membership too narrowly, thus filtering out female candidates who might be qualified were it not for the lack of a CEO credential. Nevertheless, the supply of candidates might be less than it could be because women are under-represented in senior corporate management, from which directors often are chosen. The willingness and availability of women to serve in senior leadership roles is also affected by their own motivations and choices. Seeing few female board members might be a deterrent to stepping forward. And an important set of choices for many women revolves around motherhood – if and when to have children; how much, if any, time to take off for childcare; etc.

# Nominating Committees Do Not Do Enough to Demand Women Candidates

Although researchers have found little evidence of overt bias in selection for board positions, many observers have commented on cultural factors and the tendency of individuals to associate with people like themselves or with similar backgrounds and points of view, which may help explain why boards appear so homogeneous and why change is so difficult. Many board nominating committees employ search firms. And many boards and their search firms have professed commitment to recruiting women to achieve board diversity. Nevertheless, results are poor. In our view, nominating committees and search firms need to look harder and show better results.

### Supply and Demand Problems Will Not Fix Themselves; Active Solutions Are Needed

The lack of women directors reflects problems in both sides of the market. In normally operating

markets, demand and supply imbalances are automatically corrected as buyers and sellers adjust to prevailing prices. The market for board directors, in particular female directors, may not fully fit the standard economic model, and normal self-correcting mechanisms of a market may not be very effective. Thus, we need to examine policy solutions – primarily private-sector solutions – that could be effective at correcting the gender imbalance.

### CED Recommendations: A Business Approach to Expand Supply and Increase Demand by Advocating for Talented Women

Although many corporations are actively interested in programs and policies to expand opportunities for women, there has been too little progress. A report that addresses gender representation in U.K. companies, the Davies Report, recommends several actions to improve gender balance on corporate boards. Unlike some other European nations, they do not opt for quotas. Nor do we. We do, however, agree with the spirit of the Davies Report, which embraces softer forms of targeting, goal setting, and disclosure. Businesses operate more effectively when they have well-defined goals with accountability for reaching targets. We encourage U.S. businesses to consider adopting and voluntarily reporting on stretch targets for the nomination and election of women to their boards.

We have one fundamental recommendation:
Businesses – business leaders – must make it a priority to develop the talents and advance the careers of female staff who have been identified as potential leaders. This means providing such women with the experiences and backgrounds needed to rise to the top, and advocating their promotion to higher levels of responsibility. The development of talent within an organization is critical to long-term competitiveness. Businesses that can provide talented women with developmental opportunities and integrate them into their workforce are much more likely to succeed in competition with those that fail to do so.

Dissatisfaction with weak results from traditional mentoring programs has contributed to interest



in more aggressive "sponsorship" programs that go further to identify women with high potential and connect them with sponsors who will help promote their career development. Sponsorship is intended to be "a long-term, hands-on commitment to encouraging, fighting for and creating advancement opportunities for high-potential individuals." We would take sponsorship programs to another level by challenging senior executives, men in particular, to take responsibility for developing, grooming, and advocating for talented women within their companies. This means giving such women the experiences necessary to become effective board members.

Another approach, particularly for nominating committees, is to work with executive search companies to ensure full consideration of a talent pool that includes women. Many top search firms have stated a desire to be inclusive and search widely for potential female candidates for senior executive and board positions. Many have pledged to do so in other countries, and they should affirm that pledge in the U.S. market. Nominating committees are in the position to insist that search firms make the desire for gender balance a reality by demanding to interview female candidates. They can, for example, ask their search firms to examine established lists of potential women directors from organizations such as WomenCorporateDirectors (WCD) and Governance Metrics (GMI).

#### Conclusion

Economic analyses of trade and competition focus on a country's sources of strength – its "comparative advantage." America's adaptability and cultural diversity have historically been sources of significant strength in its economic development. Compared to many other countries, particularly in Europe and Asia, the United States has gained from its ability to integrate culturally diverse groups into positions where they could contribute significantly to economic growth and development. Women, too, have been integrated into the workforce in unprecedented numbers. Despite these gains, the potential is much greater. The United States is not now a global leader in creating opportunities for women; it has ample room for improvement.

This is not a problem that will fix itself. America's business leaders should understand that they need to use all available talent to succeed in today's global competitive markets, and such talent increasingly will come from women. Business leaders should be at the forefront of efforts to improve the gender balance at the top of corporate leadership. In other countries, such as the United Kingdom and Australia, male business leaders have taken a leading role in promoting better gender balance on boards. We challenge U.S. companies and their leaders to examine their practices against the best in class; they should ask what they will do to advance women, and they should be transparent in setting targets and measuring results.





# Women on Corporate Boards Would Make America and American Companies More Competitive

For years – decades – advocates have been making the case for corporations to have more women on their boards of directors. Catalyst, one of the leading organizations promoting women in the workplace, has been tracking the number of women on corporate boards since 1977. For most advocates, the business case for women on boards has revolved around the benefits of diversity and, specifically, the measurable economic gains that accrue to companies with female directors. Studies by Catalyst and McKinsey, among others, have shown that companies with more women directors rank higher on various performance measures than other boards.1 Data analyzed by Catalyst, for example, show that between 2004 and 2008, companies in the top quartile based on the highest average percentage of women directors outperformed companies in the bottom quartile by 26 percent measured by return on invested capital (9.1 percent return versus 7.2 percent).<sup>2</sup>

The value of such data on business performance has been questioned by many. The researchers themselves openly state that these statistically significant correlations do not prove causality.<sup>3</sup> Others have noted that while there are many well-established benefits to gender-diverse boards, "the overall impact...of diversity on corporate performance has yet to be established."<sup>4</sup> Some are simply skeptical or unconvinced. In any event, out-sized performance gains are likely to be worn away over time as competitors copy market leaders.

We do not want to dwell on the question of whether women on boards create higher profits. In our view, there is a stronger and more salient business case to be made for women corporate directors based on both the competition for talent and the need for boards to be more attuned to consumers, suppliers and other stakeholders: Successful businesses of the future will be those that attract, retain, and grow talent in ways that provide more women the opportunity to succeed at all levels of the company, including the board; success also will increasingly depend on a company's ability to reach a more

diverse group of stakeholders, who, more and more, are composed of women.

# American Companies Are Being Challenged to Compete

America and American companies are being challenged around the globe. To many observers the United States is in danger of losing its competitive edge to countries such as Brazil, Russia, India, China (BRICs) and other emerging markets. Companies based in advanced European and Asian countries continue to challenge U.S. companies globally. In such an environment, U.S. companies cannot afford to overlook any available resource. Specifically, they need to do a better job of tapping into the full national talent pool. We are concerned that at the highest level of corporate leadership – the corporate board – too many companies fail to utilize talents of the female half of the population. This must change.

The basic facts of women's representation on corporate boards are not in dispute. Surveys show that women held only 16.1 percent of board seats at *Fortune* 500 companies in 2011, and 12.2 percent of seats in a larger sample of 1,754 companies.<sup>5</sup> This, of course, runs counter to expectations based on the virtually equal gender composition of the overall population and the labor force. It is particularly disturbing because of the repercussions felt down the line.

In many respects, post-World War II economic growth (especially since the 1970s) has been built on the expansion of the labor force and its inclusion of women. Women today are found at virtually all levels of work life, and highly educated and trained women are entering the labor force in greater numbers than men. The promise of full equality in the workplace, including the potential for advancement, is a foundation stone of this trend. It has been critical to the success of individual companies and to the economy as a whole. True equality, however, cannot be achieved while women are consigned to minority



status in the boards of American corporations. Many women, knowing that the top rungs of the ladder are unavailable to them, will be discouraged from striving for success and upward advancement, which harms not only them but all of us. Companies that fail to attract, develop, and promote high-performing women will fall behind competitors that do.

The situation is more urgent than many of our corporate leaders realize. Countries and companies have better economic and social outcomes when women have greater access to economic opportunities and decision-making and leadership roles. A complacent attitude of benign neglect has been the dominant response. Many take solace in the important gains that have taken place over the past 30 to 40 years. But these gains have hit a plateau. Many companies profess their desire for change; but without concerted action and demonstrated commitment to change, we foresee virtually no improvement in women's representation on corporate boards, which will have real economic consequences for all concerned. As with any business challenge, corporate leaders must commit to a plan of action and show results. Excuses and dismissive arguments no longer will suffice.

### Women on Boards are Critical to the Competitiveness Agenda

The United States is not alone in confronting the issue of gender diversity in corporate boards. As other countries have tackled these same problems, some have opted for quotas that require a certain percentage of board positions be reserved for women. Quotas are now being used or are under consideration in Norway, Spain, France, Italy, Iceland, Belgium, The Netherlands, and Malaysia.<sup>6</sup> In most cases, quotas are set at 40 percent of boards seats to be held by women. Some quotas, as in Norway, are enforced by strong penalties; others (Spain) are more aspirational, with weaker enforcement; and some (France) are to be phased in.<sup>7</sup> The European Commission is also examining options for improving gender representation in boards, and Commissioner Viviane Reding has suggested that she will push for quotas if companies show little or no progress through voluntary efforts.

Australia provides an interesting case and a potential challenge to U.S. corporate leaders. With the help of a group of Australian business leaders, called Male Champions of Change, and revisions to the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council, 40 percent of new additions to Australian corporate boards in 2011 were women.<sup>8</sup> The Australian business leaders' program combined many elements of change we endorse in this report: establishing measurable objectives regarding gender diversity, "getting serious" about women's representation based on the CEO's commitment, and ultimately capturing the benefits of diversity and "an inclusive leadership culture."

The leading emerging market countries, the BRICs, are also facing up to the challenge.<sup>10</sup> Although none of these countries has an outstanding (or even adequate) record of achievement with regard to its treatment of women and girls, each has taken action recently to promote women to top corporate positions. As reported by the *Economist* magazine, 32 percent of senior managers in China are women, compared with 23 percent in the United States. In India and Brazil, 11 percent of CEOs of large companies are women, compared with 3 percent of Fortune 500 CEOs in the United States.<sup>11</sup>

The United Kingdom recently has taken an important step, with many potential lessons and challenges for the United States. Recognizing that progress towards greater female representation on boards has been slow, the U.K. government asked Lord Mervyn Davies to "undertake a review of the current situation, to identify the barriers preventing more women reaching the boardroom and to make recommendations regarding what government and business could do to increase the proportion of women on corporate boards."<sup>12</sup>

The Davies Report was delivered to the U.K. Department for Business, Innovation and Skills and publicly released in February 2011. The report succinctly sums up a key motivation for CED and other corporate and political leaders to want to improve women's representation on corporate boards:

The business case for increasing the number of women on corporate boards is clear. Women are successful at university and in their early careers, but attrition rates increase as they progress through an organisation. When women are so under-represented on corporate boards, companies are missing out, as they are unable to draw from the widest possible range



of talent. Evidence suggests that companies with a strong female representation at board and top management level perform better than those without and that gender-diverse boards have a positive impact on performance. It is clear that boards make better decisions where a range of voices, drawing on different life experiences, can be heard. That mix of voices must include women.<sup>13</sup>

The Davies Report goes on to point out some obvious and compelling features of gender imbalance on corporate boards:

- The importance of improving gender balance of corporate boards is increasingly recognized across the world.
- The current pace of change is not good enough.
   At the current rate it would take the United
   Kingdom's top 100 companies 70 years to achieve gender-balanced boards.
- Part of the challenge is supply the pipeline of potential candidates for board positions.
- Part of the challenge is demand capable female candidates are not getting board positions.
- Solutions must involve various actors within the corporate community board chairs, CEOs, investors, and executive search firms. Government must play a supporting role.

Next, we examine these five points in greater detail.

# Why Is The Gender Composition of Corporate Boards Important?

As noted above, gender balance has become a competitive issue. Other countries have taken the lead – by instituting quotas, taking other direct action to promote women, or building national consensus through leadership – because they see the economic and social value of inclusion and diversity. The competition for talent is global, and talent matters to bottom-line results. Companies that do not provide sufficient incentive and opportunity for more women to rise to the top will lose them to others that will. Bloomberg news service reported that the response from qualified American female candidates to an inquiry from the search firm Spencer Stuart for

directors for firms based in the United Kingdom, Germany and France was "huge, within hours." No company will remain competitive for long if it ignores half of its available labor pool.

Women now constitute a substantial portion of highly talented labor, and that portion will continue to grow. Women have caught up to and surpassed men in college attendance and attainment of bachelor's and master's degrees, and the gaps are growing. 15 The number of females in graduate schools surpassed the number of males in 1984; in 2008 women accounted for 59 percent of graduate school enrollment. Currently in the United States, more than one-third (36.8 percent) of new MBAs are earned by women.<sup>16</sup> By 2019, women are projected to account for nearly 60 percent of total undergraduate enrollment. 17 Women's labor force participation has grown from about 32 percent in 1948 to 61 percent in 2009, while men's participation declined from 89 percent to 75 percent. These differences are much smaller among those with a college degree or more education, and women are now a majority of workers in "management, professional, and related occupations."18 Yet, women continue to be a substantially underused resource with significant potential to yield economy-wide benefits beyond their direct effects where employed in companies. As the consultancy McKinsey has pointed out, the greater inclusion of women in corporate leadership would expand the supply of skilled and motivated talent, thereby expanding opportunities for performance gains.19

CED and others have written extensively about a separate but related aspect of the business case for women on corporate boards. Specifically, having more women on boards would help companies engage better with the society in which they operate and help restore some trust in business as a social institution. The ongoing evolution of business in the United States, especially for corporations, is putting greater emphasis on business's social role and its relationship to business performance, including shareholder value and other metrics of success. As companies search for a new value paradigm based on responsible engagement with their stakeholders and society overall, they should be looking at their policies toward recruitment, retention, and development of women. As indicated by a Canadian Conference Board study and other observations, boards with women directors tend to be



more in touch with longer-term, societal perspectives of stakeholders.<sup>20</sup> As important, the advancement of women to leadership roles can play a significant part in restoring both trust in and performance of American business, especially in national and global markets that increasingly demand that companies reflect societal goals and values, including those pertaining to women's empowerment and social equity.

Why board leadership? Analyses of women's economic empowerment and contributions to economic performance, growth, and equity range across an extensive list of topics encompassing entrepreneurship, production work, services, household work, consumer activities, and so on. To be most effective, we have chosen to focus on corporate leadership, specifically boards of directors. We do this for several reasons. Fundamentally, we agree with the Davies Report, which puts it this way:

The boardroom is where strategic decisions are made, governance applied and risk overseen. It is therefore imperative that boards are made up of competent high calibre individuals who together offer a mix of skills, experiences and backgrounds. Board appointments must always be made on merit, with the best qualified person getting the job. But, given the long record of women achieving the highest qualifications and leadership positions in many walks of life, the poor representation of women on boards, relative to their male counterparts, has raised questions about whether board recruitment is in practice based on skills, experience and performance.<sup>21</sup>

This focus on the top is not to suggest that bottom-up approaches, or other targeted approaches, should be discounted or downgraded. The search for gender equity should proceed at all levels. But, as a business leadership group, CED's greatest impact occurs when research and policy recommendations are addressed to business leaders who can appreciate the critical and sensible analysis portrayed in these pages, and take action. In this regard, we believe CED's unique voice can take the women's empowerment issue out of its traditional forum of women speaking to women and into a wider circle of understanding where the potential for impact is significant.

We note, too, that adding women to top positions has a leverage effect by providing role models and aspirational goals for other women and for girls at early stages of education and career decisions. Women at the top of their firms play a significant role in helping to pull others into top management and board positions.<sup>22</sup> This leveraging effect has been shown in numerous global studies of women's role in economic achievement, and will be a critical element in achieving more-equitable gender representation in future boards. The pull from the top can have powerful economic effects throughout the various strata of a company and overall society. More diverse boards will produce more diverse senior management and more diverse workforces. It will produce better outcomes for companies and is a key ingredient in managing for the longer term.

### The Current Pace of Change Is Not Good Enough

Compared to the past, women today participate in the production side of the U.S. economy in relatively greater proportions and with significantly greater opportunities, although a wide gap remains between actual and ideal results. In 1980, no women were to be found in the top executive ranks of the Fortune 100; in 2001, 11 percent were women.<sup>23</sup> But, progress in women's economic empowerment appears to have leveled off. As noted, women continue to occupy board seats in the low to mid teens as a percentage of all positions. The aggregate percentage of women on boards in U.S. companies has been in the range of 12.1 to 12.3 percent for the past 3 years, according to GovernanceMetrics' 2011 survey.<sup>24</sup> In the Fortune 500, women held 15.2 to 15.7 percent of board seats in 2009 and 2010, according to Catalyst. 25 Women currently account for only 2.0 to 2.6 percent of board chairs and 7.3 to 8.8 percent of lead directors.

Looking beyond these averages, observers have examined other details of board composition. For example, Catalyst reported that in 2009 and 2010, more than half of *Fortune 500* companies had at least two female directors, while 11 percent had none. About 20 percent had three or more female directors, a threshold many consider to be a minimum "critical mass" for effectiveness. <sup>26</sup> A report by The Corporate Library indicated that only half of Russell 2000



companies had any women on their boards; only four percent had more than two women.<sup>27</sup> Oddly, companies in the Russell 3000 had a higher percentage of women on boards: 60 percent had one woman and 8 percent had more than two.

The contrast with women's substantial achievements in education, employment, and mid-level management is noteworthy. Economists and others have long been concerned about the effects of social impediments to women's full participation in the labor force. In her book, *Grand Pursuit*, which explores the history of economics and economic study, Sylvia Nasar devotes particular attention to Alfred Marshall, one of the principal founders of modern economics. In the 1870s, she writes, "Marshall was sensitive to the plight of women who were prevented from developing their intellects and regretted society's loss of their talents." One-hundred-forty years later, we still have reason to regret society's loss of women's talents.

### The Supply Pipeline is a Challenge to Some, an Excuse to Others

Board nominating committees often say that the small number of women on boards is due to the small number of perceived candidates in the pipeline.<sup>29</sup> Our review leaves us doubtful about whether this is true or just a perception by (mostly male) nominating committees. It may be because nominating committees set criteria for board membership that are too narrow, thus filtering out female candidates who might be qualified were it not for the lack of a CEO credential. As discussed in the recommendations section below (and Appendix 2), many organizations maintain long lists of female candidates qualified for board positions. The organization WomenCorporateDirectors (WCD), for example, has over 1350 members serving on over 1500 boards worldwide.<sup>30</sup> At present, board candidates are mostly drawn from a pool of senior corporate managers; sitting and former CEOs are most sought after. Women are under-represented in this target group, even more than they are in boards. In 2011, only 14 women held the position of CEO in a Fortune 500 company. With the addition of Virginia Rometty at IBM and Meg Whitman at Hewlett-Packard, among others, this number rose to 18 in 2012. Another 21 women were CEOs of the next 500 companies ranked

by Fortune Magazine (numbers 501-1000).<sup>31</sup> In the next-lower management tier, women represented only 8.4 percent of the highest-paid positions within the S&P 100.<sup>32</sup>

Supply, of course, is also strongly affected by the willingness of women to prepare for and accept leadership roles that will enhance their candidacy for a board position. Many observers have noted that although male and female graduates enter into the workforce in relatively equal numbers, the number of women tends to diminish the higher up the chain of management one looks. As the Davies Report puts it: "[T]he reasons for this drop are complex, and relate to factors such as lack of access to flexible working arrangements, difficulties in achieving work-life balance or disillusionment at a lack of career progression."<sup>33</sup>

Some analysts have pointed to some elements of self-selection, where women remove themselves from competition for some jobs – effectively taking themselves out of the supply pool. One aspect of self-selection may be due to the interaction between institutional structures and gender differences, which can cause even high-performing women to be risk averse, lack confidence, or be reluctant to make an up-front commitment in certain situations.<sup>34</sup>

An obvious issue relevant to the potential pool of female candidates for top positions is the role motherhood plays in the development of a woman's career. (This generally would not be relevant later in a woman's career when she might be considered for board membership.) Many women leave employment for an extended period during childbearing years, which happens to coincide with early- to mid-career development. When they return, women may find themselves behind colleagues and hindered in career advancement. U.S. societal norms place extra burdens on working women, who are expected to take care of their families and homes to a greater measure than men. Data show that employed married women on average spend 40 minutes more per day than married men doing household activities such as cooking, housework, and household management.<sup>35</sup> These extra responsibilities can take a toll on a young woman's career path. As discussed in recommendations below, businesses can do much more to smooth a woman's



career development to minimize the disruption of childbearing and other family responsibilities.

### Nominating Committees Do Not Demand Enough Women Candidates

When the outcome of a labor market is that fewer of an identifiable class of participants are hired than one might normally expect, analysts often look to determine whether there is evidence of bias in hiring. And researchers have looked for the existence of bias in the market for corporate directors. Overt bias has been hard to detect, but analysts have found evidence of tacit discrimination based on cultural factors, such as gender stereotypes, and of a "glass-ceiling" effect whereby biased initial conditions limit gains in the absence of strong countermeasures.<sup>36</sup> Many observers have commented on the tendency of individuals to associate with people like themselves or with similar backgrounds and points of view. This may help explain why boards appear so homogeneous and why change at the margin is so difficult.

In most boards, nominating committees have formal responsibility for choosing director nominees. Many employ executive search firms to aid in the development of candidates. And, throughout this chain, many have professed a desire to expand the candidate pool to include more women. One search firm, Spencer Stuart, reported that 90 percent of S&P 500 boards included in their annual proxy statements a commitment to "achieving a diversified board in terms of age, race, gender, geographic origin, viewpoints and experience."37 Many boards also said they wanted to reflect the company's "business footprint, customer base and shareholders." Yet they profess a lack of suitable candidates, and the number of women on boards has barely changed in recent years. In our view they need to expand their search criteria and look harder.

Nominating committees, especially in retail-oriented companies, may want to consider the value women can add to board deliberations because of their ability to connect with consumers, employees and other stakeholders. Women account for 85 percent of all consumer purchases in the United States and are increasingly part of a business's employee and supplier base. While boards do not have to represent stakeholder constituencies, having the stakeholders'

perspective represented in the boardroom would, in most cases, be an advantage.

### A Note on Self-Correcting Markets and Effects of Gender Differences on Supply and Demand

The observable outcomes of any market are the result of the interplay between aspects of the demand for and supply of the outcome in question. The lack of women directors reflects problems in both sides of the market. Some of these problems are rooted in the different career development paths often taken by men and women. For example, a common experience reported by men and women (and backed by experimental research) is one of seeing men being promoted on their potential while women must have proven accomplishments before their talent is recognized.<sup>38</sup> Another often-reported experience is of a disconnect between women who might be waiting for more senior management to recognize their talent and promote them to more responsible positions and the senior managers who are waiting for the women to signal their interest in such promotion. The need for better accommodation of maternity and childcare needs is a distinct, though separate, part of gender-based career development.

In normally operating markets, demand and supply imbalances are automatically corrected as buyers and sellers adjust to prevailing prices. The market for board directors, in particular female directors, may not fully fit the standard economic model. The unique characteristics of both buyers (companies) and sellers (highly skilled individuals) make the market for directors very different from markets for commodities like wheat or oil. In fact, there is no single market for directors, because each company can be thought of as having its own individual market needs. In such a circumstance, normal self-correcting mechanisms of a market may not be very effective. Thus, we need to examine policy solutions - primarily private-sector solutions - that could be effective at correcting the gender imbalance.

#### **Some Solutions**

The Davies Report recommends ten key actions to improve gender balance on corporate boards. (Discussed in summary below and reproduced in



Appendix I.) Unlike some other European nations, they do not opt for quotas. Nor do we.

We agree with the spirit of the Davies Report's embrace of softer forms of targeting, goal setting, and disclosure, amended as appropriate to the U.S. context and U.S. reporting regulations. Businesses operate more effectively when they have well-defined goals, with accountability for reaching targets. The U.K. report recommends that leading companies aim for a figure of 25 percent of board seats to be occupied by women by 2015. In addition, it asks companies to set publicly aspirational goals for appointments of women to the board, disclose the proportion of women on the board and in senior executive positions, explain publicly how the nomination committee addresses diversity, and expand the search for well-qualified women, in addition to other specific recommendations. We encourage U.S. businesses to consider adopting and voluntarily reporting on progress to meet stretch targets for the nomination and election of women to their boards.

A six-month review of the Davies Report, published in October 2011, indicated that some progress already had been made.<sup>39</sup> The U.K. Corporate Governance Code has been changed to mandate the recommended disclosures. Most important, female directors constituted 22.5 percent of all board appointments since the report was published, and the percentage of women on FTSE 100 boards rose from 12.5 percent to 14.2 percent – an improvement, though still significantly short of the target. In addition, one-third of FTSE 100 companies have established aspirational targets to increase the number of women on boards, and more than half of companies have explicitly announced support of the Davies Report.

In the United States, the SEC has (recently) established a rule mandating disclosure of board nominating practices. (See Box.) In addition, SEC Commissioner Luis Aguilar has publicly supported a proposal akin to the National Football League's (NFL's) "Rooney Rule." The Rooney Rule was instituted by the NFL to address a lack of racial diversity in head coaching positions, which was particularly glaring in contrast to the high percentage of black players. (Major League Baseball has a similar rule known as the "Selig Rule.") In essence, the Rooney Rule requires all NFL teams to interview

at least one minority candidate when filling a head coaching position. Teams are not required to hire that candidate, but they must make a good-faith effort when examining candidates. The effect has been to expand the search for qualified candidates, and the result has been an increase in hiring of minorities — nearly a quarter of head coaches hired since the rule was adopted have been minorities.<sup>41</sup>

### **SEC Rule on Disclosure of Board Nomination Practices**

In December 2009, the SEC adopted an amendment to Regulation S-K "to require disclosure of whether, and if so how, a nominating committee considers diversity in identifying nominees for director." The rule requires a company to disclose:

- Whether diversity is a factor in considering candidates for nomination to the board,
- How diversity is considered in that process, and
- How the nominating committee or board assesses the effectiveness of its policy for considering diversity.

The rule does not have a set definition of diversity. Companies, therefore, are able to define diversity "as they consider appropriate," which could range from "differences of viewpoint, professional experience, education, skill and other individual qualities and attributes that contribute to board heterogeneity" to identification based on "race, gender and national origin."

Source: Securities and Exchange Commission, "Proxy Disclosure Enhancements, Final Rule," December 16, 2009.

Aguilar has proposed that boards adopt a similar approach. In the context of board seats, nominating committees could instruct search firms to include women candidates on lists for committee deliberation. Corporations and their search firms could do this voluntarily, without regulation from the SEC.

An important route to improving the gender balance of boards is through executive search firms, which are used by most major corporations to recommend candidates to fill executive and board positions. Some



such firms are already taking the lead in the search for women directors. Heidrick & Struggles, for example, is cited by McKinsey as making "a dedicated effort to submit female candidates for all its board searches on a global basis," leading to more female appointments to corporate boards. Other executive search firms have also pledged to pay greater attention to female candidates. Following publication of the Davies Report, the U.K. executive search industry agreed to a voluntary code that includes a provision that at least 30 percent of long-list board candidates be women. Over 20 companies have signed up since the Code's launch. The continuing problem, however, is that results do not seem to change.

### CED Recommendations: A Business Approach to Expand Supply and Increase Demand by Advocating for Talented Women

We are frustrated that despite the efforts of many to try various "good ideas," such as those endorsed by the Davies Report, the SEC, and numerous companies, including executive search firms, little progress has been made over the past decade. No business would tolerate a similar lack of achievement with respect to sales, revenues, earnings, or any of the other metrics commonly used to measure business success. As we state at the start, gender representation is a competitiveness issue. The achievement of greater representation by women on corporate boards must be seen as part of a larger issue of talent development and met with the same urgency and accountability as any other competitive threat.

It is, therefore, imperative that businesses treat this issue as a strategic business decision and back it up with commitment, measurement, and accountability. Businesses know how to make such strategic decisions and drive them to completion. Companies must decide for themselves that the development of highly talented women and the goal of placing more women on corporate boards are important to their financial future. Once they take such a decision, they must work out a strategy for its achievement, including measurable goals and accountability tied to performance pay. Each business will find its unique solution, but those solutions may share common elements. McKinsey, for example, recommends

explicit diversity indicators to monitor progress and define priorities. Indicators might include: the proportion of women in a company's business units at each level of employment; pay levels and attrition rates of men and women in comparable positions; and the ratio of women promoted to women eligible for promotion.<sup>44</sup> Experience indicates that when such indicators are used in regular reviews, companies are more likely to be successful at promoting and retaining women.

We have one fundamental recommendation: businesses – business leaders – must make it a priority to develop the talents and advance the careers of female staff who have been identified as potential leaders. This means providing such women with the experiences and background needed to rise to the top, advocating their promotion to higher levels of responsibility, and showing visible results of these efforts. The development of talent within an organization is critical to long-term competitiveness. Businesses that can develop talented women and integrate them into their leadership are much more likely to succeed in competition with those that fail to do so.

#### Developing Talent and Expanding the Pipeline

Successful companies place a high priority on attracting, retaining, and developing their highestperforming employees. Many of these employees are, and increasingly will be, women. Accordingly, many companies already have mentoring and training programs aimed at enhancing women's career experiences and development. Various such mentoring, coaching, and networking programs have proven effective in helping women to achieve successful careers and increasing the pool of available candidates for board positions. These programs can be especially helpful in overcoming a tendency on the part of some women to under-reach for promotions and other job opportunities - not because they are under-qualified, but because they may be less assertive or less self-sure than male counterparts.

Still, evaluators give such programs uneven marks, and a new push has emerged for more aggressive programs. We agree that more must be done. McKinsey, for example, suggests some relatively simple steps to enhance the effectiveness of mentoring and other such



programs.<sup>45</sup> One step is to rethink human resources (HR) policies that can hold women back. For example, identifying high-potential candidates based on an age range (say, 28-35) might discriminate against women, especially those in mid-career or those who might temporarily leave the workforce and return at an older age. HR could use a metric such as time employed with the company, which could include time spent on maternity leave. Another approach is to ensure that recruiters and operations managers are trained on the importance of diversity. And, McKinsey points out that mentoring programs need not be limited to within individual companies. Many successful programs are operated regionally or among leading companies.

The Korn/Ferry Institute has advocated greater use of valid assessment tools for high-potential candidates who have critical skills associated with leadership success. In evaluations, women's scores are similar to men's in most dimensions of leadership, thinking and emotional styles, although differences occur within sub-categories of those attributes. Evaluators should be attuned to subtle differences between men and women. Women, for example, tend to share credit and advocate for their team rather than for themselves as individuals. In such instances, uncovering hidden talent becomes more difficult but also more important. HR specialist and line managers can use various techniques to identify high performers at all stages of their careers.

Dissatisfaction with weak results from traditional mentoring programs has contributed to interest in more aggressive "sponsorship" programs that go further to identify women with high potential and connect them with sponsors who will help promote their career development. <sup>47</sup> Sponsorship is intended to be "a long-term, hands-on commitment to encouraging, fighting for and creating advancement opportunities for high-potential individuals." <sup>48</sup> Sponsors are expected to go out on a limb for their protégées, providing stretch opportunities, forming critical connections, and promoting visibility. <sup>49</sup>

Our recommendation would take sponsorship programs to another level by challenging senior executives, men in particular, to take responsibility for developing, grooming, and *advocating* for talented women within their companies. This means giving such women the experiences necessary to become

effective board members. For example, one might advocate that a woman with recognized talent serve as a director on an outside board. Service on outside boards gives deserving women executives the opportunity to build the kinds of skills and accomplishments that nominating committees say they want.

Another approach, particularly for nominating committees, is to work with search companies to ensure full consideration of a talent pool that includes women. As noted above, many top search firms have stated a desire to be inclusive and to search widely for potential female candidates for senior executive and board positions. Many companies operating in the United Kingdom, Australia, and elsewhere have endorsed industry codes or targets. These companies should publicly state their intent to maintain a similar commitment in their U.S. practices. Nominating committees are in the position to insist that their search firms make that intent a reality by demanding to interview female candidates. They can, for example, ask their search firms to examine established lists of potential women directors from organizations such as WomenCorporateDirectors (WCD) and GovernanceMetrics (GMI). Several professional organizations have developed or are developing such lists. (See Appendix 2.) Nominating committees and their search firms should take advantage of these resources.

### A Note on Cultural Impediments

There is an unfortunate tendency in modern culture for men to shy away from supporting, mentoring, or sponsoring high-performing younger women due to concerns about "appearances." Women, too, may be deterred from such mentoring relationships because of worry about gossip.<sup>50</sup> Of course, such reluctance is not universal, but the underlying tensions exist and cannot be ignored. It is our fervent hope that culturally we have moved beyond such concerns, which can be a real impediment to progress for women, greater gender balance on boards, and ultimately successful and competitive enterprises.

A second cultural issue pertains to maternity and childcare. Businesses that seek to attract and retain women must find ways to accommodate their needs as they seek to balance their roles in and outside of



work. It is one of the challenges to business to carry out appropriate programs that balance the work and life needs of both women and men employees with the short-term and long-term staffing needs of the company. Such considerations may not seem as relevant in the context of directors, who often are more mature and less burdened by childcare and other family concerns. However, work-life issues can be very important through their effect on the pipeline of potential candidates as they move through (or drop out of) career development, and spousal care and parental care issues are also concerns for older women. A McKinsey survey showed that 57 percent of women said that balancing work and home responsibilities "is the biggest barrier to increasing gender diversity in the top management of companies;" 47 percent of male respondents agreed.<sup>51</sup>

Much has been written about work-life balance issues and their effects on women's careers.<sup>52</sup> A study by the Center for Work-Life Policy found that, in 2009, 31 percent of American women had had breaks in their careers of 2.7 years on average. Two-thirds had switched to working part time or flexible time to balance work and family.<sup>53</sup> Such career choices often take women off a path that could lead to senior management or a board position. A Government Accountability Office report in 2010 showed that female managers were less likely to be married or to have children than their male counterparts. In testimony on the report, one economist linked 40 to 50 percent of the gender pay gap to parenthood.<sup>54</sup>

Solutions that businesses can implement for themselves generally involve greater flexibility for workers, often using technology and tele-commuting to enable workers to better balance the demands of work and home. Taking concerted efforts to overcome any stigma associated with flexible work must be an important part of any such arrangements.

#### Conclusion

It is axiomatic in economic analyses of trade and competition to look at a country's sources of strength - its "comparative advantage." America's adaptability and cultural diversity have been sources of significant strength in its past economic development and current global competitiveness. Compared to many other countries, particularly in Europe and Asia, the United States historically has gained from its ability to integrate culturally diverse groups into positions where they could contribute significantly to economic growth and development. Women, too, have been integrated into the workforce in unprecedented numbers: Participation among women age 16 and over rose from about 33 percent in 1950 to about 60 percent today, and recent data show that women occupy virtually half of all jobs in the U.S. economy.

Despite these gains, the potential is much greater. The United States is not now a global leader in creating opportunities for women; it has ample room for improvement.

Although U.S. colleges and universities now graduate more women than men, women typically have fewer opportunities for advancement. This is not a problem that will fix itself. America's business leaders should understand that they need to use all available talent to succeed in today's global competitive markets, and such talent increasingly will come from women. Business leaders should be at the forefront of efforts to improve the gender balance at the top of corporate leadership. In other countries, such as the United Kingdom and Australia, male business leaders have taken a leading role in promoting better gender balance on boards. We challenge U.S. companies and their leaders to examine their practices against the best in class; they should ask what they will do to advance women, and they should be transparent in setting targets, measuring results and holding themselves accountable.



#### **Appendix 1**

### **Davies Report, Women on Boards (2011)**

Summary of Recommendations\*

- 1. All Chairmen of FTSE 350 companies should set out the percentage of women they aim to have on their boards in 2012 and 2015. FTSE 100 boards should aim for a minimum of 25% female representation by 2015 and we expect that many will achieve a higher figure. Chairmen should announce their aspirational goals within the next six months (by September 2011). Also we expect all Chief Executives to review the percentage of women they aim to have on their Executive Committees in 2013 and 2015.
- 2. Quoted companies should be required to disclose each year the proportion of women on the board, women in Senior Executive positions and female employees in the whole organization.
- 3. The Financial Reporting Council should amend the UK Corporate Governance Code to require listed companies to establish a policy concerning boardroom diversity, including measurable objectives for implementing the policy, and disclose annually a summary of the policy and progress made in achieving the objectives.
- 4. Companies should report on the matters in recommendations 1,2 and 3 in their 2012
  Corporate Governance Statement whether or not the underlying regulatory changes are in place. In addition, Chairmen will be encouraged to sign a charter supporting the recommendations.
- 5. In line with the UK Corporate Governance Code provisions B2.4 "A separate section of the annual report should describe the work of the nomination committee, including the process it has used in relation to board appointments". Chairmen should disclose meaningful information about the company's appointment process and how it addresses diversity in the company's annual report including a description of the search and nominations process.

- 6. Investors play a critical role in engaging with company boards. Therefore investors should pay close attention to recommendations 1-5 when considering company reporting and appointments to the board.
- 7. We encourage companies periodically to advertise non-executive board positions to encourage greater diversity in applications.
- 8. Executive search firms should draw up a Voluntary Code of Conduct addressing gender diversity and best practice which covers the relevant search criteria and processes relating to FTSE 350 board level appointments.
- 9. In order to achieve these recommendations, recognition and development of two different populations of women who are well-qualified to be appointed to UK boards needs to be considered:
  - Executives from within the corporate sector, for whom there are many different training and mentoring opportunities; and
  - Women from outside the corporation mainstream, including entrepreneurs, academics, civil servants and senior women with professional service backgrounds, for whom there are many fewer opportunities to take up corporate board positions.

A combination of entrepreneurs, existing providers and individuals needs to come together to consolidate and improve the provision of training and development for potential board members.

10. This steering board will meet every six months to consider progress against these measures and will report annually with an assessment of whether sufficient progress is being made.

<sup>\*</sup> Davies, E.M. Women on Boards (2011), pp 4-5. http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/w/11-745-women-on-boards.pdf



### **Appendix 2**

### Selected Organizations that Provide Referrals for Qualified Women Candidates for Board Positions

Catalyst www.catalyst.org/home

Direct Women http://directwomen.org

Financial Women's Association www.fwa.org

GMI - Diverse Director DataSource www.gmi3d.com

National Association of Corporate Directors www.nacdonline.org

The Boston Club www.thebostonclub.com

WomenCorporateDirectors (WCD) www.womencorporatedirectors.com

Women's Forum of New York www.womensforumny.org/womensforumny

Note: Some organizations may require a membership, which can include a fee, for an individual to be listed.



### **Endnotes**

- Catalyst, "The Bottom Line: Corporate Performance and Women's Representation on Boards (2004-2008)," Catalyst 2011, http://www.catalyst.org/file/445/ the\_bottom\_line\_corporate\_performance\_and\_ women%27s\_representation\_on\_boards\_%282004-2008%29.pdf; and McKinsey & Company, The Business of Empowering Women, January 2010.
- 2. Catalyst, "The Bottom Line."
- 3. Catalyst and McKinsey.
- 4. Richard LeBlanc, "A Fact-Based Approach to Boardroom Diversity," Director Journal, Institute of Corporate Directors, pp. 6-8.
- 5. Catalyst, "2011 Catalyst Census: Fortune 500
  Women Board Directors," http://www.catalyst.org/
  file/533/2011\_fortune\_500\_census\_wbd.pdf; and
  GovernanceMetrics International, "2011 Women on
  Boards Report," March 8, 2011, http://www.calstrs.
  com/corporategovernance/women\_on\_boards\_2011.
  pdf.
- 6. Lord Davies, Women on Boards, Report to UK Secretary of State for Business, Innovation and Skills and the Minister for Women and Equalities, February 2011, p.3, http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/w/11-745-women-on-boards.pdf; and Ruth Sealy, Elna Dolder, Val Singh, and Susan Vinnicombe, Women on Boards Six Month Monitoring Report, Cranfield School of Management, http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/w/11-p124-women-on-boards-6-month-monitoring-october-2011.pdf.
- Douglas Branson, "Women on Boards of Directors: A Global Snapshot," Legal Studies Research Paper Series, Working Paper no. 2011-05, University of Pittsburgh School of Law, February 2011, pp. 6-9.
- 8. "Our Experiences in Elevating the Representation of Women in Leadership: A Letter from Business Leaders," Australian Human Rights Commission, 2011, http://humanrights.gov.au/sex\_discrimination/publication/mcc/index.html; and Michelle Lamb, "A Credit to Mentors Down Under? A Recordsetting Year for Australian Female Directors," GMI, January 6, 2012, http://foundersforum.gmiratings.com/2012/01/a-credit-to-mentors-down-under-a-record-setting-year-for-australian-female-directors. html.

- 9. "Our Experiences in Elevating the Representation of Women in Leadership," p. 1.
- 10. See, for example, Sylvia Ann Hewlett and Ripa Rashid, Winning the War for Talent in Emerging Markets, Harvard Business Review Press, 2011.
- 11. "The Daughter Also Rises: Women Are Storming Emerging-World Boardrooms," Schumpeter, *The Economist*, Aug 27, 2011.
- 12. Lord Davies, Women on Boards, p. 6.
- 13. Lord Davies, Women on Boards, p. 3.
- 14. Jeff Green, "European Boards Looking for Women Get Resumes from the U.S.," Bloomberg, October 23, 2011, http://www.businessweek.com/news/2011-10-23/european-boards-looking-for-women-get-resumes-from-the-u-s-.html.
- 15. Women in America: Indicators of Social and Economic Well-Being, prepared by the U.S. Department of Commerce, Economics and Statistics Administration and the Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget for the White House Council on Women and Girls, March 2011.
- 16. Catalyst, "Women MBAs, "Catalyst August 2011, http://www.catalyst.org/file/496/qt\_women\_mbas.pdf.
- 17. Women in America: Indicators of Social and Economic Well-Being.
- 18. Women in America: Indicators of Social and Economic Well-Being.
- 19. McKinsey & Company, The Business of Empowering Women, p. 14.
- Brown, D., Brown, D. and Anastasopoulos, V. Women on Boards: Not Just the Right Thing... But the "Bright" Thing, Report, 341-02: The Conference Board of Canada, Ottawa, 2002.
- 21. Davies, Women on Boards.
- Matsa, David A. and Miller, Amalia R., "Chipping Away at the Glass Ceiling: Gender Spillovers in Corporate Leadership," RAND Working Paper No. WR-842, January 20, 2011, http://ssrn.com/ abstract=1799575.



- 23. Peter Cappelli and Monika Hamori, "The Path to the Top: Changes in the Attributes and Career of Corporate Executives, 1980 to 2001," (NBER Working Paper No. 10507).
- 24. GovernanceMetrics International, "2011 Women on Boards Report."
- 25. Catalyst, 2001 Catalyst Census: Fortune 500 Women Board Directors.
- V.W. Kramer, A.M. Konrad, and S. Erkut, "Critical Mass On Corporate Boards: Why Three Or More Women Enhance Governance," Wellesley Centers for Women, Paper No.WCW 11, 2006.
- 27. Annalisa Barrett, "Uneven Progress: Female Directors in the Russell 3000," The Corporate Library, 2010.
- 28. Nasar, Sylvia (2011-09-13). Grand Pursuit (Kindle Locations 1264-1265). Simon & Schuster, Inc., Kindle Edition.
- 29. Lord Davies, Women on Boards.
- 30. WomenCorporate Directors, "Fact Sheet," http://www.womencorporatedirectors.com/associations/9942/files/WCD\_Fact\_Sheet\_1.12.pdf.
- 31. Catalyst, "Women CEOs of the Fortune 1000," http://www.catalyst.org/publication/322/women-ceos-of-the-fortune-1000.
- 32. Calvert Investments, "Examining the Cracks in the Ceiling: A Survey of Corporate Diversity Practices of the S&P 100, October 2010, p.4; and Laura Petrecca, "Number of Female 'Fortune' 500 CEOs at Record High," USA Today, Oct., 26, 2011, http://www.usatoday.com/money/companies/management/story/2011-10-26/women-ceos-fortune-500-companies/50933224/1.
- 33. Lord Davies, Women on Boards, p. 16.
- 34. Muriel Niederle, Alexandra H. Yestrumskas, "Gender Differences in Seeking Challenges: The Role of Institutions," NBER Working Paper No. 13922, April 2008, http://www.nber.org/papers/w13922.
- 35. Women in America: Indicators of Social and Economic Well-Being, United States Department of Commerce and Executive Office of the President, Office of Management and Budget. March 2011.
- Susan Athey, Christopher Avery, and Peter Zemsky, "Mentoring and Diversity," American Economic Review, 90 (4): 765-786, cited in "Chipping away at the Glass Ceiling."

- 37. Spencer Stuart Board Index 2011, p. 18, http://content.spencerstuart.com/sswebsite/pdf/lib/SSBI\_2011\_final.pdf.
- 38. Ernesto Reuben, Pedro Rey-Biel, Paola Sapienza, and Luigi Zingales, "The Emergence of Male Leadership ion Competitive Environments," Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, as reported in "Tall Tales: Do Men Exaggerate More?" Wall Street Journal, December 5, 2011.
- 39. Ruth Sealy, Elna Dolder, Val Singh, and Susan Vinnicombe, Women on Boards Six Month Monitoring Report, Cranfield School of Management, http://www.bis.gov.uk/assets/biscore/business-law/docs/w/11-p124-women-on-boards-6-month-monitoring-october-2011.pdf.
- 40. Luis A. Aguilar, "Changing the Dialogue on Diversity to Achieve Results," Speech to the National Association of Minority Owned Law Firms 2010 Annual Meeting and Gala, October 4, 2010.
- 41. Luis A. Aguilar, "Changing the Dialogue on Diversity to Achieve Results," p. 2.
- 42. McKinsey, The Business of Empowering Women," p. 27.
- 43. Women on Boards Six Month Monitoring Report, Forward.
- 44. Georges Desvaux, Sandrine Devillard-Hoellinger, and Mary C. Meaney, "A Business Case for Women," *McKinsey Quarterly*, September 2008.
- 45. Desvaux, Devillard-Hoellinger, and Meany, "A Business Case for Women."
- 46. Dana Landis, Jennifer Predolin, James Lewis, Kenneth Brousseau, and Rebecca Slan-Jerusalim, "In Case of Emergency, Break Galss Ceiling: Women C-Suite Executives Show All the Right Skill Sets. So why are they so Rare?" Korn/Ferry Institutue, Novemebr 2011.
- 47. Center for Work-Life Policy, "Lack of Sponsorship Keeps Women from Breaking Through the Glass Ceiling Finds New Study," Press Release, January 12, 2011, https://www.worklifepolicy.org/documents/CWLP%20Sponsor%20Effect%20Press%20Release.pdf.
- 48. "The Corporate Sponsor As Hero: Advancing Women Into Leadership Roles," Ernst & Young, p.3, http://www.ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/The-corporate-sponsor-as-hero/\$FILE/Advancing-women-into-leadership-roles.pdf.



- 49. Center for Work-Life Policy, "Lack of Sponsorship."
- 50. "Women in Business: Still Lonely at the Top," *The Economist*, July 21, 2011.
- 51. Charis Gresser, "What Do Women Really Want from Work?" Financial Times, Women at the Top, May 25, 2011; and McKinsey & Company, Women Matter 2010, "Women at the Top Of Corporations: Making it Happen," October 2010.
- 52. See, for example, Sylvia Ann Hewlett and Carolyn Buck Luce, "Off-Ramps and On-Ramps: Keeping Talented Women on the Road to Success," Harvard Business Review, Vol. 83, No. 3, March 2005; and *The Economist*, "Still Lonely at the Top." See also, The Center for Work-Life Policy, http://www.worklifepolicy.org/index.php/pageID/26.

- 53. Cited in The Economist, "Still Lonely at the Top."
- 54. Joint Economic Committee, New Evidence on The Gender Pay Gap For Women And Mothers In Management: Hearing before the Joint Economic Committee, 111th Congress, 2nd session, September 28, 2010.
- Hearing Before The Joint Economic Committee of Congress, September 28, 2010, http://www.gpo. gov/fdsys/pkg/CHRG-111shrg61713/pdf/CHRG-111shrg61713.pdf.





Co-Chairs

ROGER W. FERGUSON, JR.

President and Chief Executive Officer TIAA-CREF

DONALD K. PETERSON

Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer Avaya Inc.

**Executive Committee** 

**BETH A. BROOKE** 

Global Vice Chair - Public Policy Ernst & Young LLP

**CARL T. CAMDEN** 

President and Chief Executive Officer Kelly Services, Inc.

MICHAEL CHESSER

Chairman & CEO

Great Plains Energy, Inc.

ROBERT COLSON, PH.D

Partner - Institutional Acceptance (Retired)

Grant Thornton

W. BOWMAN CUTTER

Senior Fellow and Director, Economic Policy Initiative

The Roosevelt Institute

JOSEPH GANTZ

Managing Director & COO

Pine Brook Road Partners, LLC

PATRICK W. GROSS

Chairman

The Lovell Group

EDWARD A. KANGAS

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (Retired)

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

JOSEPH E. KASPUTYS

Chairman, China Monitor, Inc., Founder, IHS Global Insight

IHS Global Insight

CHARLES E.M. KOLB

President

Committee for Economic Development

WILLIAM W. LEWIS

Director Emeritus, McKinsey Global

McKinsey & Company, Inc.

**BRUCE K. MACLAURY** 

President Emeritus

The Brookings Institution

**LENNY MENDONCA** 

Director

McKinsey & Company, Inc.

FREDERICK W. TELLING, PH.D

Vice President, Corporate Policy & Strategic Management (Retired)

Pfizer Inc

JACOB J. WORENKLEIN, ESQ.

Partner and Co-Head, Global Projects Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP

Members

**ELLEN ALEMANY** 

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman Citizens Financial Group, Inc.

PAUL A. ALLAIRE

Chairman (Retired)

Xerox Corporation

MARIA BEATRICE ARCO

Chair

American Asset Corporation

IAN ARNOF

Chairman

Arnof Family Foundation

**MORTEN ARNTZEN** 

President and Chief Executive Officer Overseas Shipholding Group, Inc.

President and CEO

Paraquis Solutions, LLC

BERNARD C. BAILEY

ANTHONY A. BARRUETA

Senior Vice President, Government

Relations

Kaiser Foundation Health Plan, Inc

DOMINIC BARTON

Managing Director

McKinsey & Company, Inc.

**ALAN BELZER** 

President & Chief Operating Officer

(Retired)

Allied Signal

PETER A. BENOLIEL

Chairman Emeritus

Quaker Chemical Corporation

DEREK C. BOK

Professor of Law & President Emeritus

Harvard University

LEE C. BOLLINGER

President

Columbia University

STEPHEN W. BOSWORTH

Dean, Fletcher School of Law and

Diplomacy

Tufts University

JOHN BRADEMAS

President Emeritus

New York University

WILLIAM E. BROCK

Founder and Senior Partner

The Brock Group

ROBERT H. BRUININKS

President

University of Minnesota

NERI BUKSPAN

Executive Managing Director & Chief

Quality Officer

Standard & Poor's Corp.

DONALD R. CALDWELL

Chairman & Chief Executive Officer

Cross Atlantic Capital Partners

**GERHARD CASPER** 

President Emeritus and Professor

Stanford University

ROBERT B. CHESS

Chairman

Nektar Therapeutics

**MARTIN COHEN** 

Managing Director and Corporate

Secretary

Morgan Stanley

FERDINAND COLLOREDO-MANSFELD

Partner

Cabot Properties, LLC



ROBERT COLSON

Partner - Institutional Acceptance (Retired)

Grant Thornton

GEORGE H. CONRADES

Executive Chairman

Akamai Technologies Inc.

EDWARD F. COX

Of Counsel

Patterson Belknap Webb & Tyler

STEPHEN A. CRANE

Chairman

Insurance and Reinsurance Strategies

KENNETH W. DAM

Max Pam Professor Emeritus of American & Foreign Law & Senior

Lecturer

The University of Chicago

**PAUL DANOS** 

Dean, The Amos Tuck School of Business

Dartmouth College

RICHARD H. DAVIS

Partner

Davis Manafort, Inc.

RICHARD J. DAVIS

Senior Partner

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

JOHN J. DEGIOIA

President

Georgetown University

MICHELLE FINNERAN DENNEDY

Vice President & Chief Privacy Officer

McAfee, Inc.

RENATO A. DIPENTIMA

President and CEO (Retired)

SRA International, Inc.

LINDA M. DISTLERATH

Senior Vice President

APCO Worldwide

WILLIAM H. DONALDSON

Chairman

Donaldson Enterprises

**IRWIN DORROS** 

President

**Dorros Associates** 

FRANK P. DOYLE

Executive Vice President (Retired)

General Electric Company

ROBERT H. DUGGER

Managing Partner

Hanover Investment Group LLC

T. J. DERMOT DUNPHY

Chairman

Kildare Enterprises, LLC

WILLIAM F. EZZELL, JR.

National Managing Partner - Legislative

& Regulatory Relations

Deloitte LLP

TREVOR FETTER

President and CEO

Tenet Healthcare Corporation

EDMUND B. FITZGERALD

Managing Director

Woodmont Associates

**HOWARD FLUHR** 

Chairman

The Segal Company

**MARGARET FORAN** 

Vice President, Chief Governance Officer

and Secretary

Prudential Financial

BARBARA HACKMAN FRANKLIN

President & CEO and Former US

Secretary of Commerce

Barbara Franklin Enterprises

PAMELA B. GANN

President

Claremont McKenna College

E. GORDON GEE

President

The Ohio State University

THOMAS P. GERRITY, JR.

Joseph J. Aresty Professor of Management

The Wharton School of the University of

Pennsylvania

STUART M. GERSON

Partner

Epstein Becker & Green, PC

ALFRED G. GOLDSTEIN

President and CEO - AG Associates

Alfred G & Hope P. Goldstein Fund

EARL G. GRAVES, SR.

Chairman and Publisher

Earl G. Graves Publishing Co., Inc.

MARK N. GREENE

Chief Executive Officer (Retired); Chair,

Advisory Council

FICO

**GERALD GREENWALD** 

Chairman

Greenbriar Equity Group

BARBARA B. GROGAN

Chairman Emeritus

Western Industrial Contractors

RONALD GRZYWINSKI

Chairman Emeritus

ShoreBank Corporation

JUDITH H. HAMILTON

President and Chief Executive Officer

(Retired)

Classroom Connect

HOLLIS W. HART

Head of International Franchise

Management

Citi

BEN W. HEINEMAN, JR.

Senior Fellow, Schools of Law &

Government

Harvard University

HEATHER R. HIGGINS

President

Randolph Foundation

JOHN HILLEN

President & Chief Executive Officer

Sotera Defense Solutions, Inc.



RODERICK M. HILLS

Chairman

Hills Stern & Morley LLP

PAUL M. HORN

Senior Vice Provost of Research

New York University

PHILIP K. HOWARD

Partner

Covington & Burling LLP

R. GLENN HUBBARD

Dean and Russell L. Carson Professor of

Finance and Economics
Columbia University

**JEFFREY A. JOERRES** 

Chairman and CEO

ManpowerGroup

ROBERT L. JOSS

Dean, Graduate School of Business

(Retired)

Stanford University

PRES KABACOFF

Co-Chairman of the Board of Directors &

Chief Executive Officer

HRI Properties

WILLIAM E. "BRIT" KIRWAN

Chancellor

University System of Maryland

THOMAS F. LAMB, JR.

Senior Vice President, Government

Affairs

PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.

KURT M. LANDGRAF

President & CEO

**Educational Testing Service** 

DAVID H. LANGSTAFF

President and Chief Executive Officer

TASC, Inc.

W. MARK LANIER

Partner

The Lanier Law Firm P.C.

**DIONY LEBOT** 

Chief Executive Officer - Western Europe

Societe Generale

IRA A. LIPMAN

Founder and Chairman

Guardsmark, LLC

**IOHN C. LOOMIS** 

Vice President, Human Resources

General Electric Company

LI LU

President

Himalaya Management LLC

**EUGENE A. LUDWIG** 

Founder & CEO

Promontory Financial Group

ELLEN R. MARRAM

President

Barnegat Group LLC

T. ALLAN MCARTOR

Chairman

Airbus of North America, Inc.

ALONZO L. MCDONALD

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Avenir Investment Corp.

WILLIAM J. MCDONOUGH

Vice Chairman (Retired)

Bank of America Merrill Lynch

MICHAEL MCGUIRE

National Managing Partner - Industry

and Market Development

Grant Thornton

DAVID E. MCKINNEY

Vice Chair

Thomas J. Watson Foundation

ROBERT W. MENDENHALL

President

Western Governors University

ALAN G. MERTEN

President

George Mason University

**DEBORAH HICKS MIDANEK** 

Chairman and CEO

Solon Group, Inc.

HARVEY R. MILLER

Partner

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

ALFRED T. MOCKETT

Chief Executive Officer

Dex One

**AVID MODJTABAI** 

Executive Vice President, Technology and

Operations

Wells Fargo & Co.

JAMES P. MOODY

Senior Financial Advisor & Assistant

Vice President, Global Wealth

Management

Bank of America Merrill Lynch

NICHOLAS G. MOORE

Director

Bechtel Group, Inc.

MICHAEL G. MORRIS

Chairman

American Electric Power Company

DIANAS, NATALICIO

President

The University of Texas at El Paso

FRANK NICOLAI

Former Director and Chief Financial

Officer

American Management Systems

DEAN R. O'HARE

Chairman and CEO (Retired)

The Chubb Corporation

**NELS OLSON** 

Vice Chairman and Co-Leader, Board

and CEO Practices

Korn/Ferry International, Inc.

RONALD L. OLSON

Senior Partner

Munger, Tolles & Olson LLP



STEFFEN E, PALKO

President and Vice Chairman (Retired)

XTO Energy Inc.

CAROL J. PARRY

President

Corporate Social Responsibility

Associates

**DEBRA PERRY** 

Non-Executive Director

Korn/Ferry International, Inc.

**GREGG PETERSMEYER** 

Chairman and CEO

Personal Pathways, LLC

DONALD K. PETERSON

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(Retired) Avaya Inc.

TODD E. PETZEL

Managing Director and Chief Investment

Officer

Offit Capital Advisors LLC

**DOUG PRICE** 

President and CEO

Rocky Mountain PBS

**NED REGAN** 

Professor

The City University of New York

RONALD A. RITTENMEYER

President and Chief Executive Officer

NCO Group Inc.

JAMES E. ROHR

Chairman and CEO

PNC Financial Services Group, Inc.

**ROY ROMER** 

Senior Advisor

The College Board

DANIEL ROSE

Chairman

Rose Associates, Inc.

LANDON H. ROWLAND

Chairman

Ever Glades Financial

**NEIL L. RUDENSTINE** 

Chair, ArtStor Advisory Board

Andrew W. Mellon Foundation

KENNETH P. RUSCIO

President

Washington & Lee University

PATRICIA F. RUSSO

Former Chairman and CEO

Alcatel-Lucent Technologies, Inc.

**EDWARD B. RUST** 

Chairman and CEO

State Farm Insurance Companies

**GEORGE SCHINDLER** 

President, U.S., Europe and Asia

**CGI** 

ROBERT A. SCOTT

President

Adelphi University

JOHN E. SEXTON

President

New York University

DONNA E. SHALALA

President

University of Miami

GEORGE P. SHULTZ

Thomas W. and Susan B. Ford

Distinguished Fellow

Hoover Institution

FREDERICK W. SMITH

Chairman, President and CEO

FedEx Corporation

PETER P. SMITH

Senior Vice President, Academic Strategies and Development

Kaplan, Inc.

ALAN G. SPOON

Managing General Partner

Polaris Venture Partners

**ION STELLMACHER** 

Senior Vice President (Retired)

Thrivent Financial for Lutherans

PAULA STERN

Chairwoman

The Stern Group, Inc.

ROGER W. STONE

Chairman and CEO

KapStone Paper and Packaging Corp.

DAVIA B. TEMIN

President and Chief Executive Officer

Temin and Company Incorporated

**EDOUARD TETREAU** 

Partner

Mediafin

G. RICHARD THOMAN

Chairman

Corporate Acquirers, Inc.

LARRY D. THOMPSON

Senior Vice President, Government

Affairs, General Counsel and Secretary, (Retired)

PepsiCo, Inc.

JAMES A. THOMSON

President and Chief Executive Officer,

Retired

RAND

PATRICK TOOLE

General Manager, Maintenance &

Technical Support Services, IBM

Global Technology Services

**IBM** Corporation

STEPHEN JOEL TRACHTENBERG

President Emeritus & University

Professor of Public Service

George Washington University



TALLMAN TRASK III

Executive Vice President

Duke University

JØRGEN VIG KNUDSTORP

Chief Executive Officer

LEGO Group

JAMES L. VINCENT

Chairman (Retired)

Biogen Idec Inc.

JERRY D. WEAST

Founder and President

Partnership for Deliberate

Excellence, LLC

Former Superintendent

Montgomery County Public Schools

JOSH S. WESTON

Honorary Chairman

Automatic Data Processing, Inc.

JOHN P. WHITE

Former Robert & Renee Belfer Lecturer, Kennedy School of Government

Harvard University

JOHN C. WILCOX

Chairman

Sodali Ltd.

HAROLD M. WILLIAMS

President Emeritus

Getty Trust

MARGARET S. WILSON

Chairman and CEO

Scarbroughs

H. LAKE WISE

Deputy President, Chief Legal Officer

Daiwa Capital Markets America Inc.

NANCY WYNNE

General Counsel

HAVAS Worldwide

KURT E. YEAGER

President Emeritus

Electric Power Research Institute





# **Statements On National Policy Issued By The Committee** for Economic Development

#### **Selected Recent Publications:**

- Boosting Postsecondary Education Performance (2012)
- After Citizens United; Improving Accountability in Political Finance (2011)
- Hidden Money: The Need for Transparency in Political Finance (2011)
- Partial Justice: The Peril of Judicial Elections (2011)
- Are Institutional Investors Part of the Problem or Part of the Solution? (2011)
- To Reform Medicare, Reform Incentives and Organization (2011)
- This Way Down To A Debt Crisis (2011)
- Restoring Trust in Corporate Governance: The Six Essential Tasks of Boards of Directors and Business Leaders (2010)
- Harnessing Openness to Improve Research, Teaching and Learning in Higher Education (2009)
- Teacher Compensation and Teacher Quality (2009)
- Rebuilding Corporate Leadership: How Directors Can Link Long-Term Performance with Public Goals (2009)
- Leadership and Shared Purpose for America's Future (2008)
- Built to Last: Focusing Corporations on Long-Term Performance (2007)
- The Employer-based Health-Insurance System (EBI) Is At Risk: What We Must Do About It (2007)
- The Economic Promise of Investing in High-Quality Preschool: Using Early Education to Improve Economic Growth and the Fiscal Sustainability of States and the Nation (2006)
- Open Standards, Open Source, and Open Innovation: Harnessing the Benefits of Openness (2006)
- Private Enterprise, Public Trust: The State of Corporate America After Sarbanes-Oxley (2006)
- The Economic Benefits of High-Quality Early Childhood Programs: What Makes the Difference? (2006)
- Education for Global Leadership: The Importance of International Studies and foreign Language Education for U.S. Economic and National Security (2006)
- A New Tax Framework: A Blueprint for Averting a Fiscal Crisis (2005)
- Cracks in the Education Pipeline: A Business Leader's Guide to Higher Education Reform (2005)
- The Emerging Budget Crisis: Urgent Fiscal Choices (2005)
- Making Trade Work: Straight Talk on Jobs, Trade, and Adjustments (2005)

- Building on Reform: A Business Proposal to Strengthen Election Finance (2005)
- Developmental Education: The Value of High Quality Preschool Investments as Economic Tools (2004)
- A New Framework for Assessing the Benefits of Early Education (2004)
- Promoting Innovation and Economic Growth: The Special Problem of Digital Intellectual Property (2004)
- Investing in Learning: School Funding Policies to Foster High Performance (2004)
- Promoting U.S. Economic Growth and Security Through Expanding World Trade: A Call for Bold American Leadership (2003)
- Reducing Global Poverty: Engaging the Global Enterprise (2003)
- Reducing Global Poverty: The Role of Women in Development (2003)
- How Economies Grow: The CED Perspective on Raising the Long-Term Standard of Living (2003)
- Learning for the Future: Changing the Culture of Math and Science Education to Ensure a Competitive Workforce (2003)
- Exploding Deficits, Declining Growth: The Federal Budget and the Aging of America (2003)
- Justice for Hire: Improving Judicial Selection (2002)
- A Shared Future: Reducing Global Poverty (2002)
- A New Vision for Health Care: A Leadership Role for Business (2002)
- Preschool for All: Investing In a Productive and Just Society (2002)
- From Protest to Progress: Addressing Labor and Environmental Conditions Through Freer Trade (2001)
- The Digital Economy: Promoting Competition, Innovation, and Opportunity (2001)
- Reforming Immigration: Helping Meet America's Need for a Skilled Workforce (2001)
- Measuring What Matters: Using Assessment and Accountability to Improve Student Learning (2001)
- Improving Global Financial Stability (2000)
- The Case for Permanent Normal Trade Relations with China (2000)
- Welfare Reform and Beyond: Making Work Work (2000)
- Breaking the Litigation Habit: Economic Incentives for Legal Reform (2000)

### **CED Counterpart Organizations**

Close relations exist between the Committee for Economic Development and independent, nonpolitical research organizations in other countries. This International Network of Private Business Organizations includes groups of business executives and scholars with objectives similar to those of CED, which they pursue by similarly objective methods. CED cooperates with these organizations on research and study projects of common interest to the various countries concerned. This program has resulted in a number of joint policy statements involving such international matters as energy, assistance to developing countries, and the reduction of nontariff barriers to trade.

CE	Circulo de Empresarios Madrid, Spain
CEAL	Consejo Empresario da America Latina São Paulo, Brazil
CEDA	Committee for Economic Development of Australia Melbourne, Australia
CIRD	China Institute for Reform and Development Hainan, People's Republic of China
EVA	The Finnish Business and Policy Forum Helsinki, Finland
FAE	Forum de Administradores de Empresas Lisbon, Portugal
IDEP	Institut de l'Entreprise Paris, France
経済同友会	Keizai Doyukai Tokyo, Japan
NBI	National Business Initiative Johannesburg, South Africa
SMO	Stichting Maatschappij en Onderneming The Netherlands



### Committee for Economic Development

2000 L Street N.W. Suite 700 Washington, D.C. 20036 202-296-5860 Main Number 202-223-0776 Fax 1-800-676-7353

www.ced.org